
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MAINE

NORTHERN DIVISION CIVIL ACTION DOCKET NO. 01-33-B-H

DEBORAH HENDERSON, MEG PETERSON, )
SUSAN HART and BETH CONNOR, o /b /o  )
THEMSELVES and ALL OTHER SIMILARLY )
SITUATED INDIVIDUALS, )

)
Plaintiffs )

)
vs. )

) COMPLAINT
G. STEVEN ROWE, in  his official capacity as )
A ttorney General for the State of Maine; )
MICHAEL E. POVICH, in  his official capacity ) 
as District A ttorney for Prosecutorial District )
VII; MICHAEL P. CANTARA, in  his official )
capacity as District A ttorney for P rosecutorial )
District I; STEPHANIE P. ANDERSON, in her ) 
official capacity as District A ttorney for )
Prosecutorial District II; NORMAN R. CROTEAU) 
in  his official capacity as District A ttorney for ) 
Prosecutorial District III; DAVID W. CROOK, ) 
in  his official capacity as District A ttorney for ) 
Prosecutorial District IV; R. CHRISTOPHER ) 
ALMY, in  his official capacity as District )
A ttorney for Prosecutorial District V; )
GEOFFREY A. RUSHLAU, in  his official capacity 
as District A ttorney for Prosecutorial District VI;) 
NEALE T. ADAMS, in his official capacity as ) 
District A ttorney for Prosecutorial District VIII; )

)
Defendants. )

NOW COME D eborah H enderson, Meg Peterson, Susan H art, and Beth Connor, 

on behalf of them selves and  all o th e r similarly situated individuals, by and through their 

attorneys, Sandra H ylander Collier and  Catherine L. Haynes, and  state  as follows:



I. JURISDICTION

1. Plaintiffs allege violation of their First and Fourteenth A m endm ent rights 

pursuan t to the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. §1983 et. seq.

2. Jurisdiction is conferred upon the Court pursuant to Title 28 U.S.C. §1343, 

et. seq.

II. PARTIES

3. Plaintiffs are w om en participating in a voluntary association know n as A 

W om an’s Project. Plaintiff Deborah H enderson is a resident of Lowell, 

Penobscot County, M aine. Plaintiff Meg Peterson is a resident of Brooks, 

W aldo County, M aine. Plaintiff Susan H art is a resident of Belfast, County 

of W aldo, M aine and Plaintiff Beth Connor is a resident of W ashington, 

County of Kennebec, Maine. Plaintiffs in tend to petition the C ourt for class 

action certification pursuan t to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure.

4. D efendants are the A ttorney General for the State of Maine, and  the eight 

prosecutors of the eight prosecutorial districts w ithin and for the State of 

Maine, who are subject to the authority  of the Attorney General for the 

State of Maine.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

5. Plaintiffs hereby repeat and reallege the allegations stated  in paragraphs 1 

through 4 above.

6. A W om an’s Project is a voluntary association of w om en who m eet for the 

purpose of gifting parties, also know n as dinner parties.



7. The participants in the association known as A W om an’s Project each make 

an  initial gift of $5,000.00  to another partic ipant who has reached  the 

dessert level o f the d inner table.

8. Plaintiffs have jo ined  the association for a variety of different reasons, 

including helping others, personal em pow erm ent, giving to favorite 

charities and the like.

9. W hen a partic ipan t reaches the dessert level, she receives from  $30,000.00 

to $40,000.00  in gifts, and she then leaves the dessert position.

10. Any partic ipan t in the voluntary association who requests the re tu rn  of her 

$5,000.00 gift will be gifted $5,000.00 by the next gifting m em ber.

11. Any partic ipan t in the voluntary association is free to leave the association 

a t any tim e w ithou t penalty.

12. All m onies given in  the context of the voluntary association are gifts from 

individuals to o ther individuals, and are no t fees or dues or com pensation.

13. There is no con tract (w ritten or oral) am ong the participants in the 

voluntary association tha t requires any participant to act in any  certain 

way.

14. No partic ipan t is required to recruit additional participants in  order to 

progress to the dessert position of the d inner table.

15. No partic ipan t is required personally to gift her own money; sponsorships 

are available, and  m any participants have sponsored new  participants to 

jo in  a d inner table.



16. Plaintiffs believe th a t their activities do no t violate any sta tu te  or law, and 

th a t they have a constitutional right to associate for the purposes stated  

above.

17. G. Steven Rowe, the Attorney General for the State of M aine, M ichael 

Povich, A ttorney for Prosecutorial District No. 7 and on inform ation and 

belief o ther prosecutors within and for the State of Maine, are threatening 

to prosecute Plaintiffs, or any of them, for allegedly violating Title 17 

M.R.S.A. §2305, w hich reads as follows:

“The organization of any multi-level distributorship arrangem ent, 
pyram id club o r o ther group, organized or brought together under any 
plan  or device w hereby fees or dues or anything of m aterial value to be 
paid  or given by m em bers thereof are to be paid or given to any other 
m em ber thereof w ho has been required to pay or give anything of m aterial 
value for the righ t to receive such sums, w ith  the exception of paym ents 
based exclusively on sales of goods or services to persons w ho are not 
participants in  the  plan  and who are no t purchasing in o rder to participate 
in the plan, w hich plan  or device includes any provision for the increase in 
such m em bership through a chain process of new  m em bers securing other 
new  m em bers an d  thereby advancing themselves in the group to a position 
w here such m em bers in turn  receive fees, dues or things of m aterial value 
from o ther m em bers, is declared to be a lottery, and w hoever shall 
organize or partic ipate  in any such lottery by organizing or inducing 
m em bership in  any such group or organization shall be guilty of a 
m isdem eanor, and  upon conviction thereof shall be punished by a fine of 
not m ore than  $5,000.00  or by im prisonm ent for not m ore than  11 
m onths, or by b o th .”

IV. STATEMENT OF CLAIMS

18. Plaintiffs hereby repeat and reallege the allegations stated  in paragraphs 1 

through 17 above, as if m ore fully stated  herein.
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19. The above stated  facts give rise to a  violation of the Plaintiffs'

constitutional rights to freedom  of association and freedom  of speech 

under the First and Fourteenth  Amendm ents.

20. The above stated  facts give rise to a violation of Plaintiffs' rights under Title 

42 U.S.C. §1983.

V. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

21. Plaintiffs hereby repeat and reallege the allegations stated  in paragraphs 1

through 20 above.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for Judgm ent as follows:

1. For a Prelim inary Injunction prohibiting the D efendants, or any of 
them , their officers, agents or employees from charging or 
prosecuting any of the Plaintiffs for their participation  in the 
voluntary  association know n as A W om an’s Project;

2. For a Perm anent Injunction prohibiting the D efendants, or any of 
them , their officers, agents or employees from charging or 
prosecuting any of the Plaintiffs for their voluntary  association in A 
W om an’s Project;

3. For a D eclaratory Judgm ent pursuant to Title 28 U.S.C. §2201 and 
§2202, th a t the activities of the Plaintiffs in their association in A 
W om an’s Project do not violate Title 17 M.R.S.A. §2305, or any 
o ther statu te.

4. For an O rder of Attorney’s Fees and Costs;

5. For w hatever further and additional relief shall appear ju s t and 
proper in the premises.
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Dated:

Dated:

, o
February , 2001

Sandra Hylander Collier 
A ttorney at Law, State Bar No. 1828 
P.O. Box 1391, 121 M ain Street 
Ellsworth, Maine 04605 
207/667-6417

February [ , 2001
C atherineL .’Haynes 
A ttorney at Law, State Bar No. 8423 
P.O. Box 1391, 121 Main Street 
Ellsworth, Maine 04605 
207/667-6417



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MAINE 

NORTHERN DIVISION CIVIL ACTION DOCKET NO. 01-33-B-H

DEBORAH HENDERSON, MEG PETERSON, )
SUSAN HART and  BETH CONNOR, )

)
Plaintiffs )

)
vs. ) AMENDED

) COMPLAINT
G. STEVEN ROWE, in his official capacity as )
A ttorney G eneral for the State of Maine; )
MICHAEL E. POVICH, in his official capacity ) 
as District A ttorney for Prosecutorial District )
VII; MICHAEL P. CANTARA, in his official )
capacity as District A ttorney for Prosecutorial )
District I; STEPHANIE P. ANDERSON, in her ) 
official capacity as District Attorney for )
Prosecutorial District II; NORMAN R. CROTEAU) 
in his official capacity as District A ttorney for )
Prosecutorial District III; DAVID W. CROOK, ) 
in his official capacity as District A ttorney for )
Prosecutorial District IV; R. CHRISTOPHER )
ALMY, in his official capacity as District )
A ttorney for Prosecutorial District V; )
GEOFFREY A. RUSHLAU, in his official capacity) 
as District A ttorney for Prosecutorial District VI;)
NEALE T. ADAMS, in his official capacity as )
District A ttorney for Prosecutorial District VIII; )

)
D efendants. )

NOW COME Deborah H enderson, Meg Peterson, Susan H art, and Beth Connor, 

on behalf o f them selves, by and through their attorneys, Sandra H ylander Collier and 

Catherine L. Haynes, and state as follows:
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I. JU RISDICTION

Plaintiffs allege violation of their First and Fourteenth  A m endm ent rights 

p u rsu an t to the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. §1983 et. seq.

Jurisd iction  is conferred upon the Court p u rsuan t to Title 28 U.S.C. §1343, 

et. seq., and Title 28 U.S.C. §§2201-2202.

II. PARTIES

Plaintiffs are w om en participating in a voluntary  association known as A 

W om an’s Project. Plaintiff Deborah H enderson is a resident of Lowell, 

Penobscot County, M aine. Plaintiff Meg Peterson is a resident of Brooks, 

W aldo County, Maine. Plaintiff Susan H art is a resident of Belfast, County 

of W aldo, Maine and Plaintiff Beth Connor is a resident of W ashington, 

C ounty of Kennebec, Maine, D CJTY^

D efendants are the A ttorney General for the State of Maine, and the eight 

prosecutors of the eight prosecutorial districts w ithin and for the State of 

M aine, who are subject to the authority  of the Attorney General for the 

S tate of Maine.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

5. Plaintiffs hereby repeat and reallege the allegations stated in paragraphs 1 

th rough  4 above.

6. A W om an’s Project is a voluntary association of w om en who m eet for the 

purpose of gifting parties, also known as d inner parties.
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7. The participants in the association known as A W om an’s Project each make 

a gift o f $5,000.00  to ano th erp artic ip an t w ho has reached the dessert level 

of the d inner table.

8. Plaintiffs have jo ined  the association for a variety  o f different reasons, 

including but not lim ited to, helping others, personal em pow erm ent, and 

giving to favorite charities and the like.

9. W hen a partic ipant reaches the dessert level, she receives from $30,000.00 

to $40 ,000 .00  in gifts, and she then leaves the dessert position.

10. Any partic ipan t in the voluntary association w ho requests the return  of her 

$5 ,000 .00  gift will be gifted $5,000,00 by the nex t gifting m em ber.

11. Any partic ipan t in the voluntary association is free to leave the association 

a t any time w ithout penalty,

12. All m onies given in the context of the voluntary  association are gifts from 

individuals to o ther individuals, and are not fees o r dues or com pensation.

13. There is no contract (w ritten or oral) am ong the participants in the 

voluntary  association that requires any partic ipan t to act in any certain 

way.

14. No partic ipan t is required to recruit additional partic ipan ts in order to 

progress to the dessert position of the d inner table.

15. No partic ipan t is required personally to gift her ow n money; sponsorships 

are available, and m any participants have sponsored  new participants to 

jo in  a d inner table.



16. Plaintiffs believe tha t their activities do not violate any statute or law, and 

tha t they have a constitutional right to associate for the purposes stated 

above and as protected and guaran teed  by the First Amendm ent of the 

U nited States Constitution.

17. G. Steven Rowe, the A ttorney General for the State of Maine, Michael 

Povich, A ttorney for Prosecutorial District No. 7 and on information and 

belief o ther prosecutors w ithin and for the State of Maine, are threatening 

to prosecute Plaintiffs, or any of them , for allegedly violating Tide 17 

M.R.S.A. §2305, which reads as follows:

"The organization of any multi-level distributorship arrangem ent, 
pyram id club or o ther group, organized or brought together under any plan 
or device w hereby fees or dues or anything of m aterial value to be paid or 
given by m em bers thereof are to be paid or given to any other m ember 
thereof who has been required to pay or give anything of material value for 
the right to receive such sums, w ith  the exception of payments based 
exclusively on sales of goods or services to persons who are not 
participants in the plan and who are not purchasing in order to participate 
in the plan, which plan or device includes any provision for the increase in 
such m em bership through a chain process of new m embers securing other 
new  m em bers and thereby advancing themselves in the group to a position 
w here such m em bers in turn  receive fees, dues or things of material value 
from o ther m embers, is declared to be a lottery, and whoever shall 
organize or participate in any such lottery by organizing or inducing 
m em bership in any such group or organization shall be guilty of a 
m isdem eanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be punished by a fine of 
not m ore than $5,000.00 or by im prisonm ent for not more than 11 
m onths, or by both."

18. “A W om en’s Project" has been in tentionally  labeled and publicized as

“illegal" by the A ttorney General and at least one prosecutor in the media,
— _ _ _______

including but not lim ited to The Bangor Daily News and The Ellsworth 

A m erican and in statem ents to television stations which have aired
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th roughout Downeast M aine and in other places across the state in 2000, 

and continuing up to and  including the week of February 19, 2001.

19. As a direct and proxim ate result of the D efendants1 actions, each of the 

Plaintiffs feels th rea tened , intim idated and chilled in her exercise o f her 

right to association as p ro tected  and guaranteed by the First A m endm ent of 

the United States Constitution.

20. There js  presendy no know n State prosecution pending of any p a rticipant 

in the association.

IV. STATEMENT OF CLAIMS

21. Plaintiffs hereby repeat and  re-allege the allegations stated in paragraphs 1 

through 20 above, as if m ore fully stated herein.

22. The above stated facts give rise to a violation of the Plaintiffs' 

constitutional rights to freedom  of association and freedom  of speech 

under the First and F ourteen th  Amendments.

23. The above stated facts give rise to a violation of Plaintiffs’ rights under Title 

42 U.S.C. §1983.

V. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

24. Plaintiffs hereby repeat and  re-allege the allegations stated in paragraphs 1 

through 23 above.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray  for Judgm ent as follows;

1, For a Prelim inary Injunction prohibiting the Defendants, or any of 
them, their officers, agents or employees from charging or
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prosecuting any of the Plaintiffs for their participation in the 
voluntary  association known as A W om an's Project;

2. For a Perm anent injunction prohibiting the Defendants, or any of 
them , their officers, agents or em ployees from charging or 
prosecuting any of the Plaintiffs for their voluntary association in A 
W om an’s Project;

3. For a D eclaratory Judgm ent pursuant to Tide 28 U.S.C. §2201 and 
§2202, th a t the activities of the Plaintiffs in their association in A 
W om an's Project do not violate Title 17 M.R.S.A. §2305, or any 
o ther statu te.

For an O rder of A ttorney’s Fees and Costs under Title 42 U.S.C. 
§§1983 and 1988c J? j

For w hatever further and additional relief shall appear ju s t and 
proper in the prem ises.

Dated: M arch G__ , 2001
Sandra H ylander Collier 
Attorney a t Law, State Bar No. 1828 
P.O. Box 1391, 121 Main Street 
Ellsworth, M aine 04605 
207 /667-6417

Dated: M arch ' (fl , 2001 / c f , /U -V
Catherine L. Haynes ' J 
Attorney a t Law, State Bar No. 8423 
P.O. Box 1391, 121 Main Street 
Ellsworth, M aine 04605
207 /667-6417
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P'A i f  $  j tA t

84 Harlow St,, 2nd Floor

G. S t ev en  R ow e
A TTO R N EY GENERAL

Banoor, M aine 04401 
Teil: (207) 941-3070 
Fax: (207)941-3075

44 Oak. Street, 4th Floor 
Portland, Maine 04 101-3014

State of M aine
D epartment of the A ttorney G eneral 

6 S tate H ouse S tation 
A ugusta, M aine 04333-0006

T el: (207) 822-0260 
Fax: (207)822-0259 
TDD: (877) 428-8800

Telephone: [2 0 7 ) 6 2 6 -8 8 0 0  
TDD: {2 0 7 } 6 2 6 -8 8 6 5 128 S weden St ., Ste. 2 

Caribou, M aine 04736 
T el: (207)496-3792 
Fax: (207)496-3291

April 20, 2001

Gail Creath
United States District Court
P.O.Box-1007
Bangor, ME 04402-1007

Re: Deborah Henderson, et a l v. G. Steven Rowe, et a l

Dear Ms. Creath:

Enclosed for filing please find the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss in the above- 
captioned matter. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions.

Thank you for your assistance.

Docket No. CIV-01-3 3-B-H

Sincerely,

James A. McKenna 
Assistant Attorney General

JAM/sp

cc: Sandra Hylander Collier, Esquire
Catherine L. Haynes, Esquire 
Jeffrey A. Thaler, Esquire

Primed on Recycled i’ajier



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MAINE

DEBORAH HENDERSON, MEG PETERSON, )
SUSAN HART and BETH CONNOR, )

)
Plaintiffs. )

)
vs. )

)
G. STEVEN ROWE, in his official capacity as )
Attorney General for the State of Maine; ) Civil Action No. 01-33-B-H
MICHAEL E. POVICH, in his official capacity ) 
as District Attorney for Prosecutorial District )
VII; MICHAEL P. CANTARA, in his official ) 
capacity as District Attorney for Prosecutorial )
District I; STEPHANIE P. ANDERSON, in her ) 
official capacity as District Attorney for )
Prosecutorial District H; NORMAN R. CROTEAU ) 
in his official capacity as District Attorney for )
Prosecutorial District III; DAVID W. CROOK, )
in his official capacity as District Attorney for )
Prosecutorial District IV; R. CHRISTOPHER )
ALMY, in his official capacity as District )
Attorney for Prosecutorial District V; )
GEOFFREY A. RUSHLAU, in his official capacity) 
as District Attorney for Prosecutorial District VI; )
NEALE T. ADAMS, in his official capacity as )
District Attorney for Prosecutorial District VIII, )

)
Defendants )

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

I. Introduction

As argued below, the Defendants seek to dismiss the Plaintiffs’ 42 U.S.C. 1983 action 

for the following reasons: the Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can 

be granted. F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6).
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It is the Defendants' position that the Plaintiffs have incorrectly cast their claim in First 

Amendment terms and therefore should not be heard in Federal Court. The Plaintiffs were free 

to have brought a Declaratory Judgment action in State Court, pursuant to 14 M.R.S.A. 

§§5951-5963, but chose not to do so.1 As part of its Answer to the Plaintiffs’ Complaint, the 

Defendants have filed a counterclaim charging that the Plaintiffs’ participation in A Woman’s 

Project constitutes a violation of the Maine Unfair Trade Practices Act (5 M.R.S.A. § 207). If 

the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is granted, the Defendants request that this matter be 

removed to the Maine Superior Court in Kennebec County for a trial of this counterclaim.

II, A Woman’s Project

Based on the Statement of Facts in the Plaintiffs’ Complaint, the Plaintiffs are members 

of a multi-level pyramid club that calls itself “A Woman’s Project.” The “Project” it promotes 

is the opportunity for new members o f A Woman’s Project to each donate $5,000 to another 

Project member who has already risen to the top of the pyramid, thereby providing that 

member with $30,000 to $40,000. These new members, assuming additional recmits become 

available, will then also have an opportunity to receive $30,000 to $40,000.

The Plaintiffs’ Complaint only provides a shorthand description of this pyramid but the 

actual steps of similar “dinner party” pyramids are well known. At the base of the typical 1 2 3

1 The Plaintiffs’ Prayer for Relief seeks a federal Declaratory Judgment:

For Declaratory Judgment, pursuant to Title 28 U.S.C. §2201 and §2202, that the 
activities of the Plaintiffs in their association in A Woman’s Project do not violate Title 17 
M.R.S.A. § 2305, or any other statute.

2 Pursuant to 5 M.R.S.A. § 209, an Unfair Trade Practice action is properly brought in the Superior Court of 
Kennebec County.

3 For example, a Missouri state decision in State o f Missouri v. Staci Lynn Basko, et al. (Circuit Court of Clay 
County, CV 100-3675 CC, December 14, 2000) provides a typical description:

The Court concludes as a matter of law that WEN [Women’s Empowerment Network] or 
the Original Dinner Party as it is also known, is a pyramid sales scheme under Section
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dinner party pyramid are eight women who are represented as “appetizers,” above them are 

four women who are called “soups and salads,” and above them are two women who are 

designated “main courses.” At the top of this pyramid is the woman named the “dessert,” who 

will be the beneficiary of that particular dinner party. Women who enter at the “appetizer” 

level typically give (or “gift”) $5,000 to the woman at the “dessert” level. After the “dessert”

407,400(5) which defines such a scheme as:

Any plan or operation for the sale or distribution of goods, services or other 
property wherein a person for a consideration acquires the opportunity to 
receive pecuniary benefit, which is not primarily contingent on the volume 
or quantity of goods, services or property sold or distributed ... and is based 
upon the inducement of addition of persons by himself or herself or others, 
regardless of number, to participate in the same plan or operation....

The Court finds that WEN operates in the following manner. It is structured in the form of a 
dinner party, and the charts upon which names are placed are called “trees.” Eight persons are 
recruited to fill the bottom row of each tree. Each of these eight spots is called an “appetizer.” 
In order to have her name placed in an appetizer spot, a woman or her benefactor must agree 
that either she or someone on her behalf will pay $5,000 to the person at the top of the tree, 
known as the “dessert” spot, when the appetizer row is completely filled. When the bottom 
appetizer row is filled, the tree monitor (the person in charge of placing names on tress and 
monitoring positions of the women on trees as they advance towards the top) notifies each 
appetizer person that it is time to pay the dessert person.’ The tree monitor also notifies the 
dessert person at the top that she is now entitled to receive money. The top (dessert) person 
then is paid up to $40,000 from the persons at the bottom (appetizers) and vacates the top 
position. Receiving such payment from those in the bottom row [is] called “birthdaying.” 
When the bottom row is filled and the top position has “birthdayed,” the tree then splits 
into two Pees, and those originally in the bottom (appetizer) row then move up to higher 
positions on the new trees - - called “soup and salad” and “entrée” - - until they too, 
reach a top (dessert) position and are entitled to receive payment upon the appetizer rows 
being filled with more people.

The Court finds that WEN falls within the statutory definition of a pyramid scheme because 
it is a plan or operation for the sale or distribution of property - - a spot on a WEN Pee - - 
whereby, for a payment of $5,000, a participant acquires the opportunity to receive a pecuniary 
benefit - - payments totaling as much as $40,000 from those who have joined after her - - that 
is not contingent on the sale of any goods, services, or other property and is based on the 
inducement of additional persons, by herself or others, to participate.

The Court is aware that the monetary payments in WEN were called “gifts” by WEN 
participants. However, it clear from the undisputed evidence Piat regardless of what they 
were called, the payments were made in order to receive the opportunity for pecuniary gain 
from those who were subsequently induced to participate in Pie scheme and as such were 
not gifts. Moreover, the Court finds that because intent is not an element of a violation under 
Section 407.405, what the payments were called does not in any way affect or negate the 
finding that Defendants violated the statute.
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woman receives her $40,000, the pyramid splits, with the two “main course” women becoming 

the “dessert” in their own pyramids. Everyone moves up a level and the women must now find 

eight new “appetizers” for each of the two new pyramids.

III. A Woman’s Project Pyramid Scheme.

The underlying issue in the Plaintiffs’ Complaint is whether its fundraising efforts 

violate the Maine prohibition against pyramid schemes. This law is found at 17 M.R.S.A.

§ 2305 and reads as follows:

§2305. Multi-level distributorships, pyramid clubs, etc., declared a 
lottery; prohibited; penalties

The organization of any multi-level distributorship arrangement, pyramid club 
or other group, organized or brought together under any plan or device whereby 
fees or dues or anything of material value to be paid or given by members thereof 
are to be paid or given to any other member thereof who has been required to pay or 
give anything of material value for the right to receive such sums, with the 
exception of payments based exclusively on sales o f goods or services to persons 
who are not participants in the plan and who are not purchasing in order to 
participate in the plan, which plan or device includes any provision for the increase 
in such membership through a chain process of new members securing other new 
members and thereby advancing themselves in the group to a position where such 
members in turn receive fees, dues or things of material value from other members, 
is declared to be a lottery, and whoever shall organize or participate in any such 
lottery by organizing or inducing membership in any such group or organization 
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be punished by 
a fine or not more than $5,000 or by imprisonment for not more than 11 months, or 
by both.

A violation of this section shall constitute a violation o f Title 5, Chapter 10, 
Unfair Trade Practices Act.
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The Plaintiffs’ Complaint, while quite sketchy in describing its fundraising activities, 

provides the details of an illegal pyramid:

A Woman’s Project 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305

“The organization of any multi­
level distributorship arrangement, 
pyramid club, or other group, 
organized or brought together 
under any plan or device ....”

.. whereby fees or dues or any­
thing of material value to be 
paid or given by members thereof 
are to be paid or given to any 
other member thereof who has 
been required to pay or give 
anything of material value for 
the right to receive such sums....”

.. which plan or device includes any 
provision for the increase in such 
membership through a chain process 
of new members securing other new 
members and thereby advancing 
themselves in the group to a position 
where such members in turn receive 
fees, dues or things of material value 
from other members, is declared to be 
a lottery....”

This introduction to A Woman’s Project and the Maine anti-pyramid law is not an 

attempt to answer the Plaintiffs’ claim that their activities do not violate the statute. The 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint makes additional factual assertions and it is the Plaintiffs’ position that 

their activities do not fall within the ambit of 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305. But it is this dispute - - 

whether the Plaintiffs’ activities violate 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 and the Maine Unfair Trade 

Practices Act - - which the Defendants believe should be resolved in Kennebec County 

Superior Court in a trial of the Defendants’ counterclaim. While the Plaintiffs may ultimately

1. A Woman’s Project is a voluntary 1. 
association of women who meet for the
purpose of gifting parties, also known as 
dinnerparties. Complaint*|6.

2. The participants in the association known as A 2. 
Woman’s Project each make a gift of $5,000 to 
participant who has reached the dessert
level of the dinner party. Complaint $7.

3. When a participant reaches the dessert level, 3. 
she receives $30,000 to $40,000 in gifts, and 
she then leaves the dessert position.
Complaint %9.
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be successful in their efforts to have their fundraising activities declared legal, they have 

improperly commenced their quest in Federal Court.

VI. The Plaintiffs’ Complaint Fails To State A Claim Upon Which Relief 
Can Be Granted.

The Plaintiffs’ First Amendment allegations fail to allege a legal theory that is 

cognizable in federal court. F.R. of Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Even if their legal claim is theoretically 

sound, they fail to plead sufficient facts to support that theory. Smilecare Dental Group v. 

Delta Dental Plan, 88 F.3d 780,783 (9th Cir. 1996), cert, denied, 519 U.S. 1028 (1996) (court 

may dismiss complaint as matter of law for (1) lack of cognizable legal theory or (2) 

insufficient facts under cognizable legal claim).

VII. Enforcement Of The State’s Anti-Pyramid Statute Does Not Violate 
The Plaintiffs’ First Amendment Rights.

The basis for the Plaintiffs’ 42 U.S.C. 1983 request that this matter be heard in Federal 

Court is found in Complaint [̂19:

As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ actions, each of the
Plaintiffs feels threatened, intimidated and chilled in their exercise of
her right to associate as protected and guaranteed by the First Amendment
of the United States Constitution.

The “Defendants’ actions” complained about by the Plaintiffs are public press releases 

by the Attorney General and at least one District Attorney. These press releases described 

several groups (including A Woman’s Project) that Maine law enforcement believed were 

conducting the women-only “dinner party” pyramids. The purpose of these press releases was

6



to warn Maine citizens that an illegal pyramid scheme was spreading through the state and 

would result in many persons losing their money. Here are exceipts from two such warnings:

Attorney General Andrew Ketterer Warns Against 
Women Only Pyramid Scheme

Maine Attorney General Andrew Ketterer announced today that his 
office has been receiving complaints from around the State that a pyramid 
scheme limited only to women has invaded Maine. This pyramid scheme 
appears to be going under such different names as “A Women’s Project,”
“Women Helping Women,” and “Wild Women.” In most cases, the pyramid 
scheme involves mock “dinner” meetings in which participants are urged to 
bring new recruits. Women who enter the pyramid at the lowest level are 
characterized as an “appetizer” dish and are asked to recruit other women who 
are willing to donate $5,000 to the person at the top of the pyramid. The ’ 
women advance from the appetizer stage until eventually they reach the 
dessert stage, a t which point they hope to receive $35,000. Women are urged 
not to tell their husbands they are participating in this scheme.

“From all reports, the Women Helping Women scheme certainly 
appears to be an illegal pyramid,” said Attorney General Ketterer. “The 
Maine law is very clear: pyramids are both civil and criminal offenses and 
should be stopped immediately.” Attorney General Ketterer urged 
participants in the Women Helping Women scheme to immediately return a lf 
monies they have solicited. Pyramid clubs are declared both crimes and 
unfair trade practices in 17 M.R.S.A. §2305.

As an example of why almost everyone loses their money in pyramid 
schemes, if  one person recruits 6 people and those 6 people have to recruit 6 
new people, and so on, after only 13 levels the number of new recruits needed 
exceeds the total population of the United States. “Except for the people at 
the very top of the pyramid, the great majority of participants will lose all 
their money,” said Attorney General Ketterer. “That’s why pyramids are 
illegal. It becomes impossible to obtain new recruits. The sooner Women 
Helping Women is stopped, the fewer Maine women will lose their money.”
The Attorney General urged any person who cannot get back their money 
from Women Helping Women to make a formal complaint to the Attorney 
General’s Public Protection Division.4

4 This excerpt is from an Attorney General Press Release dated May 24, 2000.
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Michael E. Povich, District Attorney 
For Immediate Press Release 

January 26,2001

Contact: Michael Povich, District Attorney 

Friends:

An illegal pyramid scheme is loose in our community. Before it runs its 
course, many people will lose money, families and friends will be divided, and 
a few people may even get prosecuted. I am writing to try and convince those 
of you in this scheme already to get out and to convince anyone approached 
about joining not to join.

As I understand the current scheme, each member is asked to donate 
$5,000 in the expectation of receiving $40,000 once eight new members have 
paid their $5,000. At various points the scheme has been called “Women 
Helping Women,” “A Dinner Party” or “A Birthday Party” or the like. At some 
point women were invited to join but told not to tell their husbands. I 
understand now that this scheme is more public, women are not being asked to 
keep it a secret. Initially recruits were told they could only join by invitation, 
and now the recruiting process is getting more open. Whatever form it 
currently takes, fundamentally it will be the same: you give $5,000 now and 
when you recruit eight friends to join (and they pay their $5,000) you will get 
paid $40,000.

According to Maine law, 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305, such a scheme is illegal.

These groups are called pyramid schemes because of the shape o f a 
pyramid: a triangle. The result o f all pyramid schemes is inevitably the same: a 
few people walk away with money while most lose the money they put into the 
pyramid. These schemes are illegal because they are based on fraud. The 
recruit is told that for their donation and the recruiting o f a set number o f people 
they will receive a higher sum of money. They are not illegal because they 
involve recruiting other people to recruit other people: that is done in a lot of 
businesses. They are not illegal because they involve giving money to others: 
giving money away is perfectly legal. They are illegal because they deceive 
people into giving money: that is the definition of fraud.

Let me suggest you look at it this way. For the scheme I described 
above to work, the first person only made money if she got eight others to join. 
Those eight people only received the amount they were promised if they each
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get eight new people to join. Those 64 people only get their money if they each 
get eight people to join. Quickly the numbers involved look like this:

1
8

64
512

4,096
32,768

262,144
2,197,152

By the way, the population of Calais is about 4,400; the population of 
Ellsworth is about 6,000; the population of Washington County is about 36,000; 
the population of Hancock County is about 47,000; and the population of the 
State of Maine is near 1.6 million. That is why this scheme is a fraud: there’is 
no possible way to recruit enough new members to keep the scheme honest.5

It is such press releases that the Plaintiffs claim have chilled the exercise o f their

First Amendment right to free association. But the only “right” being chilled by these press

releases is the right to violate 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 and that right does not exist.

17 M.-R.S.A. § 2305 does not ban clubs, it does not ban women-only clubs, it does

not ban women-only clubs that are devoted to discussing ways to “empower” women by

giving gifts. But it does ban pyramid clubs and “whoever shall organize or participate in

any such lottery by organizing or inducing membership in any such group or organization.”

(Emphasis added.) In effect, the only speech prohibited by 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 would be

the following:

We want you to join our group and give $5,000 to the person at the dessert stage.
If we all recruit sufficient new members, you also will eventually reach the dessert 
stage and receive $40,000.

5 Excerpts from a Press Release distributed by the Office of District VII District Attorney, Michael E. 
Povich, dated January 26, 2001.
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Of course, such conduct is not protected speech. See Mozzochi v. Borden, 959 F,2d 

1174, 1180 (2tld Cir. 1992) (no First Amendment right to be free from “criminal 

prosecution supported by probable cause that is in reality an unsuccessful attempt to deter 

or silence criticism of the government”); Arcara v. Cloud Boolcs, Inc., 478 U.S. 697 (1986) 

(book-selling in an establishment used for prostitution does not confer First Amendment 

protection).

Any speech related to organizing and recruiting members to invest $5,000 in an 

illegal pyramid is, at least, commercial speech. It is without ideological content. For such 

speech to be protected by the First Amendment it at least must concern lawful activity and 

not be misleading. Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Service, 447 U.S. 557,

566 (1980). But pyramids in violation of 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 are not only crimes but also 

unfair and deceptive. The Legislature has declared such pyramids to be an illegal lottery 

and also declared them to be per se violations o f the Maine Unfair Trade Practices Act, 5 

M.R.S.A. § 207 (“unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or 

commerce are declared unlawful”). The constitutional freedom of speech does not extend 

its immunity to those seeking to profit from an illegal pyramid. See Giboney v. Empire 

Storage & Inc. Co., 336 U.S. 490, 504 (1949) (picketing in support of an illegal restraint of 

trade not protected by First Amendment).

The Defendants do not seek to restrain members o f A Woman’s Project from 

meeting and discussing gift giving or, for that matter, discussing 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 and 

why it may be ill conceived or unnecessary. Such speech does not violate the Maine 

pyramid statute. Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88, 101-02 (1966) (“[t]he freedom of 

speech and of the press guaranteed by the Constitution embraces at the least the liberty to
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discuss publicly and truthfully all matters of public concern without previous restraint or 

fear of subsequent punishment”). But 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 does prohibit efforts to organize 

and recruit members to an illegal pyramid. How the Plaintiffs plan to use the money raised 

from their pyramid, whether it be selfish or altruistic, is irrelevant as to whether they have 

violated 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305.

If the Plaintiffs believe that their activities do not violate 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 then 

they should have tested that conviction in State Court and requested a Declaratory 

Judgment pursuant to 14 M.R.S.A. §§5951-5963. But they do not possess a First 

Amendment claim and therefore they cannot seek a declaratory judgment pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. §2201. The Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed and the matter removed to 

the Maine Superior Court, Kennebec County. There the parties can proceed to trial on the 

Defendants’ Unfair Trade Practice Act counterclaim.

Even if the Plaintiffs’ Complaint states a cognizable First Amendment legal theory, 

the Plaintiffs do not allege sufficient facts to support that theory.

The Plaintiffs do not claim that any Plaintiff has been personally named in a State 

press release or related newspaper story. Indeed, the Plaintiffs admit at [̂20 of their 

Complaint: “There is presently no known State prosecution pending of any participant in 

the association.” Further, the Plaintiffs make no claim that the Defendants’ press releases 

were in any way “motivated by a desire to harass or ... conducted in bad faith” or that 17 

M.R.S.A. § 2305 was “flagrantly and patently violative of express constitutional 

prohibitions....” Huffman v. Pursue, Ltd., 95 S. Ct. 1200, 1206 (1975) (due to pending 

state civil proceeding, comity and federalism required the court to abstain). The Plaintiffs’
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First Amendment claims are too slight and implausible to be accorded weight. As the First

Circuit stated in Sullivan v. Carrick, 888 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1989):

Where a chilling effect is speculative, indirect or too remote an 
abridgment o f First Amendment rights is unfounded. United States 
v. Harriss, 347 U.S. 612, 626 74 S. Ct. 808, 816-17, 98 L. Ed. 989 (1954).

Id. at 4.

No doubt the Plaintiffs do indeed feel discomfort from the Defendants’ press 

releases announcing that their club is involved in an illegal pyramid. Perhaps such 

discomfort is unavoidable if the State is going to warn its citizens about pyramids it has 

concluded violate its laws. As the U.S. Supreme Court stated in Younger v. Harris, 91 S. 

C t 746 (1971):

Moreover, the existence of a “chilling effect,” even in the area of First 
Amendment rights, has never been considered a sufficient basis, in and 
of itself, for prohibiting state action. Where a statute does not directly 
abridge free speech, but - - while regulating the subject within the state’s 
power - - tends to have the incidental effect o f inhibiting First Amendment 
rights, it is well settled that the statute can be upheld if  the effect on speech 
is minor in relation to the need for control o f the conduct and the lack of 
alternative means for doing so.... Just as the incidental “chilling effect” 
of such statutes does not automatically render them unconstitutional, so 
the chilling effect that admittedly can result from the very existence of 
certain laws on the statute books does not in itself justify prohibiting the 
state from carrying out the important and necessary task of enforcing 
these laws against socially harmful conduct that the state believes in 
good faith to be punishable under its laws and the Constitution.

Id. at 754.6

6 Younger v. Harris is an “abstention” case. The Defendants’ civil Unfair Trade Practice Act counterclaim is 
mandatory. F.R. of Civ.P. 13. This Court should view Maine’s counterclaim as, in effect, a pending state 
action and grounds for the Court’s abstention. Juidice v. Vail, 97 S. Ct. 1211, 1216-17 (1977) (state civil 
action to abate the showing of an allegedly obscene movie).
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The Plaintiffs’ claims deal with a state statute designed to protect Maine citizens 

from illegal and deceptive pyramids. This matter is most properly decided in a Maine state 

court.

Dated: April 20, 2001

Respectfully submitted,

Office o f the Attorney General 
G. STEVEN ROWE

BY: ^  A c k 9-

JAMES A. MCKENNA 
Assistant Attorney General 
Maine Bar No. 1735 
Attorney for the Defendants

13



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, James A. McKenna, attorney for Defendants, certify that on April 20,2001 1 
mailed Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss to the U.S. District Court and to counsel listed 
below, by United States Mail, first-class, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

Sandra Hylander Collier, Esquire Catherine L. Haynes, Esquire
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Jeffrey A. Thaler, Esquire 
P.O. Box 9729 
Portland, ME 04104-5029

Dated: April 20, 2001 0 a+vJL. A cA
James A. McKenna 
Assistant Attorney General 
Office of Attorney General 
#6 State House Station 
Augusta, Maine 04333 
Tel: 626-8800 
Maine Bar No. 1735
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UNITED STA TES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRIC T OF MAINE

D E BO R A H  H E N D E R SO N , E T A L . ,  )
)

Plaintiffs )
r

v. )
)

M AINE A TTO R N EY  GENERAL, )
E T A L . ,  )

)
Defendants )

Civil N o. 0 1 -3 3 -B -H

MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER ON DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 
AND PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION TO AMEND COMPLAINT

T he p lain tiffs a re  m em bers of an  organization  called aA W om an’s P ro ject.” 

They c la im  th a t  the  M aine A ttorney G eneral and  various d is tr ic t a tto rn ey s are 

v iolating th e ir  F irst A m endm en t righ ts to associate  by th rea te n in g  to p rosecu te  

th em  u n d e r  th e  M aine law  prohib iting  pyram id  schem es. 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305. 

The p ro se c u to rs  have m oved to d ism iss th e  com plaint, a rgu ing  th a t  the  F irst 

A m en d m en t does n o t p ro tec t the  plaintiffs from engaging in  illegal fund ra ising  

efforts. They have filed a  coun tercla im  th a t  seeks a  dec lara tion  th a t A W om an’s 

Project d oes in  fac t violate M aine’s pyram id  schem e law, as well as dam ages for 

th e  p la in tiffs ’ alleged u n fa ir  trad e  p rac tices . In response , the  plaintiffs have 

m oved to  a m e n d  th e ir  com plain t to add  a  section 1983 claim  for re ta lia tion  

(because  th e  p ro se cu to rs  filed the counterclaim s) and  to allege m ore explicitly th a t 

th e  p ro s e c u to rs ’ s ta te m e n ts  to the p ress  an d  th rea ts  of p ro secu tion  have chilled



th e ir  F irst A m endm ent rights. B ecause the law suit is in  its early stages, I Grant 

th e  m otion to am end . However, I Dismiss the A m ended C om p la in t.1 I conclude  

th a t  the p ro secu to rs  have n o t violated the p lain  tiffs' F irs t A m endm ent righ ts .

I. Background

According to the  Second A m ended C om plaint, A W om en's Project is  a  

vo lun ta ry  asso c ia tio n  of w om en who m eet for w h a t they  refer to a s  gifting p a rtie s  

o r d inner p arties . Second Am. Compl. K 6. The group a ttra c ts  w om en m em bers 

for a  variety of reaso n s , inc lud ing  help ing  o thers , em pow ering them selves, 

d iscu ssin g  w om en 's is su e s  a n d  giving to favorite charities. Id. t  7 . To join, each  

new  m em ber m akes a n  in itia l gift of $5 ,000  to a m em ber w ho h a s  previously  

proceeded th ro u g h  the  stages of th e  organ ization  an d  reached  th e  top (“d e sse r t 

level”). Id. ^ 8 .  As a  re su lt, th a t  m em ber receives $ 3 0 ,0 0 0  to $40 ,000  u p o n  

reach ing  the  h ig h es t level of th e  organ ization  a n d  th en  leaves th is  d e sse rt level, id. 

If 9, a lthough  everyone is a s su re d  th a t  there  is no g u a ra n tee  of th is  occurring. Id.

n  s, 12.

P artic ipa tion  in  A W om an 's Project is voluntary . Id. f  6. All m em bers are  

en titled  to leave th e  a sso c ia tio n  a t any  tim e; no m em bers are req u ired  to re c ru it 

o th er m em bers; m em bers are  perm itted  to have a  sp o n so r for th e ir  initial gift; a n d  

there  are  no oral or w ritten  c o n tra c ts  betw een th e  m em bers. Id. IfH 11; 13-15. In 

addition , any  m em ber who req u e s ts  the re tu rn  of h e r in itial gift receives a re fu n d

1 In light of these rulings, the plaintiffs’ motion for sum m ary judgm ent on the defendants’ 
counterclaim s is Moot.
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from  th e  n e x t gifting m em ber, id. f  10.

D uring  2000  an d  2001 , A W om an's Project cam e u n d e r public scru tiny  from  

th e  A ttorney G enera l of M aine a n d  several d istric t a tto rneys. Id. Tif 17, 19. T hese 

officials is su e d  p re ss  re leases th a t  certa in  organizations w ithin Maine, including  A 

W om an 's P ro ject, ap p ea red  to be illegal pyram id  schem es u n d e r  M aine law an d  

u rg ed  any  w om en victim ized by su c h  groups to m ake a  form al com plaint. Id. The 

m em bers  of A W om an’s Project who filed th is  claim  u n d e r  42 U.S.C. § 1983 for 

in junctive  a n d  declara to ry  relief a s se r t  th a t  th ese  th re a ts  of p rosecu tion  a n d  

s ta te m e n ts  to th e  p ress  violated th e ir F irs t A m endm ent righ ts to freedom  of 

assoc ia tion , id. 33, a n d  th a t  th e  p ro se c u to rs ’ coun terc la im  u n d e r  the M aine 

s ta tu te  is d esigned  to a n d  h a s  h a d  th e  effect of chilling th e ir r ig h t of free access to 

th e  co u rts . TJK 29, 32 , 34. As of M arch  6, 2001, no p a rtic ip a n ts  from A W om an’s 

Project h a d  been  p ro secu ted  for th e ir  partic ipa tion . Id. Tf 23. The plaintiffs claim  

th a t  th e ir  activ ities in  the  p ro ject in  fact do n o t violate the  M aine an ti-pyram id  

s ta tu te . T[ 18.

II. Discussion

A ,. Prosecutors’ Threats as First Amendment Violations

In o rd er to s ta te  a  section  1983 claim , the  plaintiffs m u s t allege th a t (1) the 

p ro se c u to rs ’ a c tio n s  (here, th re a ts  of prosecution) w ere com m itted  u n d e r  color of 

s ta te  law  a n d  (2) th e  th re a ts  w orked a  den ia l of righ ts  secured  by the  Constitution.

See Collins v, N uzzo, 244 F .3d  246, 250 (1st Cir. 2001). The p ro secu to rs concede
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th a t  the  first req u ire m e n t is met. B ut they  con tend  th a t  their p ress  releases a b o u t 

A W om an's P roject do n o t im properly chill the p la in tiffs5 F irst A m endm ent righ ts .

F irst, th e  p ro secu to rs  argue th a t the p la in tiffs’ activ ities in  A W om an 's 

Project do in  fac t violate 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 and  therefore do n o t deserve any F irs t 

A m endm en t p ro tec tion . D efs.5 Obj. to Pis /  Mot. to Am end and  S upp lem en t Compl. 

a t  1. T he p ro se cu to rs  have n o t p resen ted  a  fac tual record  to su p p o rt th e ir  

a sse rtio n  th a t  M aine law h as been violated, however. O n a  m otion  to d ism iss I 

m u s t  tak e  th e  p la in tiffs5 allegations as tru e . The p lain tiffs m a in ta in  th a t th e ir  

activ ities in  A W om an 's Project do no t violate 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305  o r any o th e r  

M aine s ta tu te . Second Am, Compl. 1 1 8 .

In s te ad , they  cla im  th a t the  p ro secu to rs ' th re a ts  a n d  s ta te m e n ts  to the  

p re ss—in th e  ab sen ce  of any  illegal conduct on the  p lain tiffs ' p a r t—chill their F irs t  

A m endm en t r ig h ts  to freedom  of association . Id. 1 30. They a p p e a r  no t to  be 

co n te s tin g  th e  c o n stitu tio n a l validity of 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305 , e ith e r facially o r a s  

applied , a n d  th ey  do n o t a sse rt bad  faith  on th e  p a r t  of th e  p ro secu to rs , b u t  

m erely  a  lack  of p robab le  cause  to p ro secu te  a n d  a lack  of reasonab le  

investigation  to su p p o rt the  tru th  of the p ro secu to rs ' a sse r tio n s . Id. H  20-21.

in fo rm al m e th o d s  of enforcing the law, like a  p ro se cu to r 's  s ta tem en ts  to the  

p ress  th a t  h e /s h e  considers p a rticu la r co n d u ct illegal, do n o t violate F irs t 

A m endm en t righ ts . S ta te  C inem a of Pittsfield, Inc, v. R y a n . 422  F .2d  1400, 1402 

{1st Cir. 1970} (affirm ing m otion to d ism iss w here th e  “essence  of p la in tiffs
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co m p la in t seem s to be th a t  th is [good faith  a ttem p t by the police an d  p ro secu to r to 

enforce s ta te  law] w as done in a n  inform al m anner. . . . [i]n ou r view th is is  not 

ac tionab le , a b se n t b ad  fa ith”). In  o rder to s ta te  a  co n stitu tio n a l claim  for the 

p ro se c u to rs ' s ta te m e n ts  a n d  th re a ts  alone, the  plaintiffs w ould have to plead th a t  

th ese  th re a ts  and  s ta te m e n ts  a m o u n ted  to a schem e to sque lch  F irst A m endm ent 

righ ts w ith o u t u s in g  the  o rd inary  crim inal p rosecu tion  p rocess in the  co u rts—an  

“effective s ta te  reg u la tio n  su p erim p o sed  u p o n  the S ta te 's  crim inal regu la tion  [of 

py ram id  schem es] a n d  m aking  su c h  regu la tion  largely u n n e c e ssa ry  an d  . . . .  

obviating th e  need  to em ploy crim inal sa n c tio n s .” B an tam  Books, Inc, v. Su llivan , 

372 U.S. 58, 69 (1963); S ta te  C in em a . 422 F .2d  a t 1401 (“B an tam  Books held  

u n c o n s titu tio n a l the  c rea tion  an d  p rac tice  of a  sta te  com m ission  w hich p assed  on 

th e  accep tab ility  of lite ra tu re , pub lic ly  denounced  as objectionable m ateria ls  

w hich failed to m ee t w ith  its approval, a n d  th rea tened  d is trib u to rs  of the  m ateria ls 

w ith  p ro se cu tio n —th o u g h  th e  com m ission  h a d  no p ro secu to ria l pow ers.”). 

P ro secu tio n  th re a ts  or s ta te m e n ts  a re  actionable only if they  am o u n t to an  

inform al sy s tem  of cen so rsh ip  of F irs t A m endm ent activ ities in d ep en d en t of the 

crim inal s ta tu te s . B an tam  B ooks, 372 U.S. a t 71; see also S ta te  C inem a. 422 

F .2 d a t  1402 (“The record  in  th is  case  show s no m ore th a n  a  good fa ith  a ttem p t by 

th e  police a n d  p ro se cu to r to enforce s ta te  law, the validity of w hich h a s  no t been  

called in to  q u e s tio n .”); H am m erh ead  E n te r .. Inc, v. B rezenoff, 707 F .2d 33, 39 (2d
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Cir. 1983) (s ta tem en ts  n o t actionab le  w here no evidence th a t  co m m u n ica tio n s  

were p a r t  of a n  inform al system  of censorship).

The plaintiffs have n o t alleged any th ing  close to the  cen so rsh ip  sch em e the 

S up rem e C o u rt s tru c k  down in  B an tam  B ooks, 372 U.S. a t 70-71 . The p lain tiffs 

have alleged only th a t  the  p ro secu to rs  m ade prosecu tion  th re a ts  a n d  s ta te m e n ts  

to the p re s s  th a t  A W om an's P ro ject w as illegal. Second Am. Compl. f^[ 17, 19. 

T here is no  se p a ra te  regu la to ry  schem e a p a rt from th e  py ram id  s ta tu te . The 

p lain tiffs have n o t alleged th a t  th e  p rosecu to rs were engaged in a n  in form al 

system  of c en so rsh ip , a ttem p tin g  to stop  the plaintiffs from  su p p o rtin g  the social 

a n d  econom ic is su e s  of w om en, o r th a t  the  p rosecu to rs w ere ac ting  in  bad  fa ith . 

The p lain tiffs a re  com plain ing  m erely th a t  the  prosecutors are  try ing  to enforce the 

law  inform ally  before p roceeding  th ro u g h  th e  legal process, a n d  th a t  the law  is 

u ltim a te ly  inapp licab le  to them . As alleged, the claims u n d e r  section 1983 are  n o t 

ac tionab le .

In  fact, th e  S uprem e C o u rt h a s  no ted  th a t  in fo rm al c o n ta c t betw een

p ro se cu to rs  a n d  p o ten tia l law vio lators is proper. The C o u rt s ta te d  th a t

We do not hold that law enforcement officers m ast renounce 
all informal contacts with persons suspected of violating valid 
law s.. .Where such consultation is genuinely undertaken with 
the purpose of aiding the [violator] to comply with such laws 
and avoid prosecution under them, it need not retard  the full 
enjoyment of First Amendment freedoms.

B a n ta m  B o o k s, 372 U.S. a t 71-72. W hat the plaintiffs have p leaded  h e re  so u n d s 

j u s t  like w h a t the S uprem e C ourt described  as constitu tiona lly  so u n d  in B an tam
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B ooks, 371 U.S. a t 71-72: the  plaintiffs have n o t alleged th a t  the  p rosecu to rs were 

doing any th ing  m ore th a n  adv ising  them  and  the public  th a t  in  the ir view A 

W om an’s Project v iolates 17 M.R.S.A. § 2305.

B. Retaliation

The allegations su p p o rtin g  the p la in tiffs’ section 1983 re ta lia tio n  theory  are 

n o t sufficient to s ta te  a claim . The re ta lia tion  claim  is b a sed  u p o n  th e  a sse rtio n  

th a t  th e  p la in tiffs’ r ig h t of free access to the  co u rts  is illegally chilled  or 

d iscouraged  by  th e  fac t th a t  th e  p ro secu to rs  filed a  co u n te rc la im  seek ing  a  

declara tion  th a t  th e  p lain tiffs have in fac t violated the py ram id  schem e s ta tu te , as 

well as dam ages for th e  p la in tiffs’ alleged u n fa ir  trad e  p rac tices . Second Am. 

Compl. ^  29, 32, 34.

By definition, co u n te rc la im s in  a  law su it are re ta lia to ry  in  n a tu re , b u t  th is  

does n o t m ake th em  illegal. T he plaintiffs have no t p resen ted  a n y  case  au th o rity  

th a t  s ta te s  th a t  a  co u n te rc la im  in  an  existing law suit m ay be illegal re ta lia tion  

u n d e r  section  1983. C o u n te rc la im s can , of course, be d ism issed  if app ropria te , 

b u t  here  the  plaintiffs have n o t so u g h t any su c h  relief (not d ism issa l on the  

m erits, n o t d ism issa l as frivolous, n o t sanctions un d er Rule 11, n o r  any  dam ages).

They have con tinued  to p u rs u e  th e ir original su it. They have n o t been  deterred  in 

th e  exercise of th e ir  righ t of access  to the  co u rts  by the d e fe n d an ts’ counterclaim s.
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In sh o rt, th ere  is no basis for a  claim  of illegal reta lia tion , (Indeed, 

accord ing  to the  plaintiffs, they too w an t a  jud ic ia l declara tion  co ncern ing  the

law fulness of th e ir  activ ities. Id. f  24.)

III. Conclusion

The p la in  tiffs' m otion  to am end  com plain t is Granted. The d e fe n d a n ts ’’

m otion to d ism iss  is Granted. The defendan ts ' counterclaim  is Dismissed without 

prejudice b ecau se  I decline to a s se r t  ju risd ic tio n  u n d e r  28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3). If 

th ere  is a  leg itim ate  q u estio n  concern ing  the s ta tu te ’s app lica tion  to A W om an’s 

Project, it sh o u ld  be resolved  in  th e  sta te  courts.

S o  Ordered .

Dated this day of August, 2 0 0 1 .

D. ££rock Hornby
United States Chief District Judge
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